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*1  I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

A. SHOULD MR. KOZIOL'S CONVICTION BE VACATED BECAUSE A DEMAND LETTER HE SENT CANNOT

SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR EXTORTION UNDER 18 U.S.C. § 1951 AND THE INSTRUCTIONS WERE
ERRONEOUS EVEN IF IT COULD SUPPORT A CONVICTION?

1. Should This Court Follow Overwhelming Authority Holding Litigation and Threats of Litigation, Even When Made in Bad

Faith, Cannot Constitute Extortion Under 18 U.S.C. § 1951?
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2. Does Already Existing Authority in This Circuit at Least Require the Threat of Litigation to Be a Sham and Did Mr. Koziol's
Threat Fail to Qualify as a Sham?

*2  3. Was There Instructional Error Even if Mr. Koziol's Threat to Litigate Could Constitute Extortion?

a. Was it error to instruct “[a] threat is wrongful... if the defendant knew he was not entitled to obtain the property” without
adding requirements satisfying the sham exception?

b. Was it error to instruct the jury could find the threat was “wrongful” based on just a finding the threat was “unlawful,”
especially without providing a definition of “unlawful”?

B. WAS THE EVIDENCE INSUFFICIENT BECAUSE NO RATIONAL JURY COULD HAVE FOUND MR. KOZIOL WAS
NOT HONESTLY MISTAKEN?

C. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THAT EXTORTION UNDER 18 U.S.C. § 1951 CAN BE
BASED ON A THREAT OF REPUTATIONAL HARM?

D. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR BY ALLOWING AN ATTORNEY TO TESTIFY ABOUT AN “INVESTIGATION”
THAT “DETERMINED” AND FROM WHICH SHE “INFERRED” WHAT WAS “TRUE” AND WHAT WAS NOT
“PLAUSIBLE OR CREDIBLE,” BECAUSE IT WAS OPINION TESTIMONY ABOUT ANOTHER WITNESS'S
CREDIBILITY?

*3  E. DID THE DISTRICT COURT MAKE MULTIPLE SENTENCING ERRORS?

1. Did the District Court Err by Using the Amount in a Demand Letter to Set the Offense Level Under § 2B3.3 of the Guidelines?

2. Did the District Court Err by Failing to Apply § 2X1.1 of the Guidelines and Consider a Reduction in § 2X1.1(b)(1) for
Incomplete Attempts?

3. Did the District Court Err by Concluding It Could Not Run the Sentence Concurrently to a Previously Imposed State Sentence?

The pertinent statutory and sentencing guidelines provisions are set forth in the Statutory Appendix.

II. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION.

This appeal is from an extortion conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 1951. The district court had jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. §
3231, and this Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. Mr. Koziol was sentenced on January 22, 2019, see ER 1-36,
75-79, and filed a timely notice of appeal on January 24, 2019, see ER 74.

*4  B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.

The indictment was filed on January 19, 2018, see ER 107-08, and Mr. Koziol was arraigned on February 12, 2018, see CR
19. Trial commenced on May 29, 2018. See CR 95.
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Prior to and during trial, the parties filed proposed instructions and objections. See CR 68, 69, 90, 91, 103. The district court
ruled on the instructions during trial. See ER 50-73.

The defense made an oral motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the evidence on June 1, see ER 63-70, and filed a
written motion on June 5, see CR 117, after the jury found Mr. Koziol guilty, see CR 114. The government filed an opposition
on June 25, see CR 132, and the defense filed a reply on July 9, see CR 133. The court held a hearing on July 16, see CR 137,
the defense filed a supplemental brief on July 23, see CR 144, and the court denied the motion on July 26, see ER 37-49.

The probation office prepared a presentence report, and the parties filed sentencing memoranda on November 21 and December
3. See CR 150, 151, 152. The final presentence report, accompanied by an addendum responding to the sentencing memoranda,
was filed on January 11, 2019. See PSR. The court imposed sentence on January 22. See ER 30, 75.

C. BAIL STATUS OF DEFENDANT.

Mr. Koziol is serving his sentence. His projected release date is February 16, 2023.

*5  III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. THE NUDE MASSAGE, THREATENED LAWSUITS, AND RESPONSE.

1. The Nude Massage.

On Christmas Day, 2015, a manager for several entertainers (hereinafter “Manager”) 1  decided to seek a “nude massage,”
RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 41-42, because he was “in a funk,” RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 50. He found a masseuse on a website called “Backpage,”
which he had used previously for nude massages. RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 41-42. The masseuse was not available immediately, and
Manager did not schedule a later massage because he “was kind of in a mood where I wanted to see her at that moment.”
RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 50.

Manager contacted the masseuse again on January 10, 2016, however, and scheduled a massage that day. RT(5/31/18 a.m.)
50-51. The massage, in Manager's view, did not go well. The masseuse covered him with a towel rather than leaving him naked
as in other nude massages. RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 55. It was “kind of like light petting,” rather than “a real massage.” RT(5/31/18
a.m.) 56. The masseuse did not allow “mutual touching” like other masseuses. RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 57. Finally, there was no “happy
ending,” meaning an orgasm. RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 57.

*6  Manager was “upset,” “annoy[ed],” and “like: Are you kidding me?” RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 57-58. The masseuse told him to
leave and brought a “massive Doberman Pincher [sic]” out of a bedroom. RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 58.

Manager was “pissed off when [he] left,” RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 58, and sent a text threatening to tell the masseuse's property manager
about her nude massages. RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 71. He claimed she responded, “Well, I am going to do some digging on - with your
cell phone and wouldn't it be a shame if your wife knew that you were coming to see a nude masseuse.” RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 71.
Manager did not produce these texts at trial, however. See RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 74, 76.

2. The Masseuse's Complaint.

Shortly after the nude massage, Manager received a voicemail message for “Andy” from an attorney. RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 59-60.
“Andy” was the first name of Manager's most successful client (hereinafter “Entertainer”). See RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 37-40. The
message alleged inappropriate behavior during a massage and said, “We'd like to resolve this privately.” RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 60.
Manager also received an email addressed to Entertainer, which was “more of the same.” RT(5/31/18 a.m. 62).
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Manager called the attorney and told him it was he who had gotten the nude massage and that the assault allegations were false.
RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 63-64. The attorney sent a demand letter to Entertainer's attorney nonetheless. RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 64. The letter
stated the attorney represented a woman named Jordan Sweet, and Ms. Sweet had provided the massage on January 10. See ER
133-36. It used Manager's name as the customer, but placed it in quotation marks in most *7  instances and prefaced it with
the word “purportedly” the first time it was used substantively. See ER 133-36. The letter went on to state:

Minutes into the massage, your client groped my client's breasts. My client became upset, moved his hands and stated “No
Touching.” Our client continued performing the massage. Your client, attempted to grope my client's breasts once more. Again,
my client moved his hands and firmly stated, “No Touching.” Finally, at the third attempt, your client grabbed her hands and
moved them onto his genitals. My client pushed his hands off immediately and stated “This session is over.” She asked him to
get dressed and leave her apartment immediately. There is video footage of your client on premises.

ER 134 (emphasis in original). The letter demanded a settlement of $250,000. See ER 136.

Manager retained counsel to respond instead of Entertainer's attorney. See ER 137-39. They wrote that Manager had received
the January 10 massage but did not touch the masseuse. See ER 137. They asserted “there are numerous other text messages
your client and [Manager] exchanged immediately after the massage, including specific messages where she revealed her plan
to shake him down by ... doing [sic] some ‘digging’ about him.” ER 137. The attorneys had never seen such text messages,
however. See RT(5/30/18 a.m.) 76-77.

The letter also included a footnote apparently intended to protect Entertainer:

We also need to be clear that we will not entertain any discussions regarding [Entertainer]. He has no involvement in this matter
and, to the extent your client would like to claim that it was [Entertainer] and not [Manager] who had the massage, she will
expose herself (and you) to further liability, including for malicious prosecution.

ER 139.

In less than three weeks, the attorneys negotiated a confidential settlement agreement, in which Manager agreed to pay $225,000.
See ER 140-49. The *8  settlement agreement expressly protected Entertainer by name, in a general release for claims against
others “including, but not limited to, [Entertainer].” ER 142.

3. Mr. Koziol's Complaint.

Some months later, Manager received a message from Ms. Sweet's husband. RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 79-80. The man identified himself
as Mr. Koziol when one of Manager's attorneys responded to the message. RT(5/30/18 a.m.) 57. He said he had been in the
bedroom with the Doberman, something occurred that led him to go out into the room where the massage was taking place, and
Manager verbally and physically assaulted him. RT(5/30/18 a.m.) 57-58. Manager's attorney questioned this claim, expressed
concern Mr. Koziol knew about a settlement which was confidential, and told Mr. Koziol Manager was “not going to be extorted
a second time.” RT(5/30/18 a.m.) 58.

It was then “quiet” until December 2016, when both Manager's attorneys and Entertainer's attorney received demand letters
from an attorney representing Mr. Koziol. RT(5/30/18 a.m.) 59. The letters named Entertainer as the massage customer and
made allegations like Mr. Koziol had made to the attorney who called him back. See ER 150-54, 155-59. The letters concluded
with a request to contact Mr. Koziol's attorney. See ER 153-54, 158-59.

Manager's attorneys responded that Entertainer was not the customer and Mr. Koziol's claim was a scam. See ER 160-61.
They asserted Ms. Sweet had breached the settlement agreement's confidentiality terms, threatened a claim for that, and
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threatened “affirmative claims against [Mr. Koziol] and Ms. Sweet, including claims under the Racketeering Influenced &
Corrupt Organizations *9  (“RICO”) Act and for conspiracy to commit civil extortion.” ER 161.

There was no further contact until October 2017, when Manager received an email from Mr. Koziol about “[a] private,
confidentially, serious matter involving ... [Entertainer],” and wanting “to talk to his representative.” RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 84-85.
Entertainer's attorney responded and subsequently received a demand letter in which Mr. Koziol repeated the assault allegations,
threatened a lawsuit, and demanded $1 million in damages. See ER 162-64. Mr. Koziol claimed he had video of Entertainer at
the building where the massage took place and attached a digital photo of himself with a black eye. See ER 163; Govt. Ex. 15,
at 19. Metadata showed the digital photo had been taken in December 2016, however. See RT(5/31/18 p.m.) 47, 58-59.

Entertainer's attorney retained a criminal attorney and contacted the FBI. RT(5/31/18 p.m.) 29-30. He tried to speak with Mr.
Koziol on the phone, but got only emails. See RT(5/31/18 p.m.) 31-34. Mr. Koziol indicated he was open to negotiation, stating
“If your client wishes to reconsider my offer or to counter my offer please let me know ASAP.” ER 166. See also ER 172 (“If
your client has a change of heart and wishes to make an offer to settle this case, please do notify me immediately.”).

Instead, the criminal attorney responded. She wrote that she was “a former federal prosecutor and former Chief of the Major
Crimes Unit for the United States Attorney's Office for the Southern District of New York,” ER 170, and threatened legal action:

[Y]our actions, and those of your wife, constitute numerous violations of federal law including wire fraud under 18 U.S.C. §

1343, extortion affecting interstate commerce under 18 U.S.C. § 1951, threatening to injure the reputation of another under
18 U.S.C. § 875, and conspiracy to commit those violations under 18 U.S.C. § 371, not to mention several *10  violations of
California State law[, which] expose you and your wife to stiff criminal penalties, including significant jail time. For example,
that you have submitted written extortionate demands for money over the wires subjects you to a term of imprisonment of up
to 30 years under the wire fraud statute.

Please know that should you file a civil action against either one of my clients or publicly repeat in any way these false allegations
against my clients, we will pursue all our legal remedies against you and your wife, including, but not limited to, the filing of
a suit for defamation/libel. Although you seem to think you may be judgment proof and immune to civil remedies because you
have “no money or assets,” that does not mean that you are immune from prosecution. Indeed, the filing of a lawsuit against
either one of my clients or the revelation in any way of the spurious allegations against my clients will prompt me to immediately
notify the appropriate authorities of your continued criminal efforts to extort my clients.

ER 171.

B. THE INDICTMENT, TRIAL, AND SENTENCING.

Mr. Koziol never filed his lawsuit after receiving this threatening letter. See RT(6/1/18 a.m.) 39. What was filed was a criminal

indictment. It charged Mr. Koziol with attempted extortion, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951. See ER 107-08.

Mr. Koziol was arrested and the matter proceeded to trial. Manager described his relationship with Entertainer, described
contacting the masseuse and the nude massage, denied assaulting anyone, and described the initial communications from the
attorneys and Mr. Koziol. See RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 34-100. Entertainer testified he had not been the massage customer and he
had feared both reputational harm and economic harm. See RT(5/31/18 p.m.) 60-96. Two of the attorneys testified about their
dealings with Mr. Koziol's wife's attorney, Mr. Koziol's attorney, and Mr. Koziol. See RT(5/30/18 a.m.) 39-99; RT(5/31/18 p.m.)
11-51. The testimony of the attorney who negotiated the settlement agreement *11  with Mr. Koziol's wife included references
to an “investigation,” “the allegations that we determined to be true,” ER 90, her “understanding based on our investigation that
there were more text messages,” ER 91, and her “infer[ence] from the facts that I learned [as part of the investigation] that [Mr.
Koziol's wife's claim] just was not plausible or credible,” ER 96.
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The jury found Mr. Koziol guilty. See CR 114. The presentence report recommended a guidelines enhancement of 14 and a total
offense level of 23 based on the $1 million demand in Mr. Koziol's demand letter, and the court followed this recommendation.
See ER 6-9, 28; PSR, ¶¶ 29, 34. It imposed a sentence of 70 months, which was the low end of the guideline range. See ER 30,
75. It also ordered the sentence to run consecutively to a previously imposed state sentence. See ER 30-31, 75. The presentence
report had recommended a consecutive sentence because the new offense had been committed after the state sentence had been
imposed. See PSR, ¶¶ 46, 76 & n.2 (noting state sentence and guideline provision advising consecutive sentence).

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Most fundamentally, Mr. Koziol's conviction should be vacated because 18 U.S.C. § 1951 does not apply. This Court in

dictum and seven other circuits in actual holdings have indicated a threat to file a lawsuit cannot constitute extortion under §

1951, even when the claim is made in bad faith. This reading of § 1951 is justified by both the rule of lenity and multiple
policy considerations, and this Court should not make itself an outlier by rejecting the overwhelming weight of *12  authority.

Alternatively, already existing holdings of this Court make § 1951 inapplicable. What is known as the Noerr-Pennington
doctrine immunizes litigation activity unless it is a “sham,” which requires both that it be objectively baseless and that it have
a collateral purpose unrelated to a litigation outcome. This Court has held, first, that the Noerr-Pennington doctrine applies

to pre-litigation activity like demand letters and, second, it applies to § 1951. Mr. Koziol's claim does not come within the
“sham” exception because there was no evidence he had a collateral purpose unrelated to a litigation outcome. His goal was a
monetary award, which is precisely the outcome that litigation is aimed at.

If the Court declines to follow the other circuits' holdings and also somehow concludes the sham exception could be satisfied,
there was instructional error requiring a new trial. First, the district court erred by instructing it was sufficient to find Mr. Koziol
knew he was not entitled to the damages he sought. This made a finding of the first element of the Noerr-Pennington sham
exception - that the claim be baseless - sufficient without any finding of the second element of a collateral purpose. Second,
the district court erred by instructing the jury could find the threat sufficient “if it [was] “unlawful or if the defendant knew he
was not entitled to obtain the property.” Using the word “or” instead of “and” allowed the jury to convict even if Mr. Koziol
believed he was entitled to obtain the property, thereby eliminating even the first element of the Noerr-Pennington doctrine.
This second error was aggravated by failure to provide a definition of “unlawful.” This left the jury to divine for itself what
threats the law does and does not allow.

There was also a third instructional error. That was an instruction a *13  conviction could be based on fear of either economic
harm or reputational harm. Two judges of this Court - Judge Hurwitz and Judge Reinhardt - divided on this question in United

States v. Brank, 724 Fed. Appx. 527 (9th Cir. 2018) (unpublished). The Court should adopt Judge Reinhardt's view that §

1951 does not apply to reputational harm - for multiple reasons set forth in Judge Reinhardt's opinion. First, § 1951's language

is “muddled,” creating a concept of “threatened fear” that makes no sense. Second, § 1951 in other respects focuses on

threats of economic harm and harm to persons or property. Third, reputational harm is not expressly included in § 1951 and
is expressly included in another extortion statute - 18 U.S.C. § 875 - whose predecessor Congress adopted at the same time

as § 1951's predecessor. Fourth, the rule of lenity supports the narrower construction of § 1951. Fifth, because criminal
law is primarily a local matter, it is appropriate to require a clear statement of congressional purpose before extending a federal
criminal law to conduct covered by state law.

The district court also made a prejudicial evidentiary error - allowing Manager's attorney to testify about “allegations that we
determined to be true,” her “understanding” based on an “investigation,” and her “infer[ence]” that Mr. Koziol's wife's claim
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“just was not plausible or credible.” This was simply the attorney's opinion it was Manager, one of the government's witnesses,
telling the truth. Such opinion testimony about another witness's credibility is impermissible.

Finally, there were sentencing errors. One error was in the district court's conclusion it was required to use the $1 million
amount in Mr. Koziol's demand letter as the “demand” driving the offense level under § 2B3.3 of the sentencing guidelines.
First, an initial demand in litigation is not the true “demand,” because *14  parties envision negotiation, and, second, there
was ambiguity about the “demand” in this very case. The letter from Mr. Koziol's attorney contained no amount at all, and Mr.
Koziol's later emails invited counteroffers.

There was also a second sentencing error, which was not raised in the district court, but which rises to the level of plain error.
Mr. Koziol was charged only with attempted extortion. The guideline which applies to attempts, absent an express guideline

provision to the contrary, is § 2X1.1. There is no express guideline provision to the contrary for attempted extortion, so

failing to apply § 2X1.1 was an error which is “plain.” It affected Mr. Koziol's substantial rights and the fairness, integrity,

and public reputation of the proceedings because § 2X1.1 contains a specific offense characteristic which requires a 3-level
reduction in most cases. The reduction is not required only if the defendant has completed or is about to complete all of the acts
necessary for completion of the offense. Here, there were further substantial steps for Mr. Koziol to take.

There was then a third sentencing error. In making the sentence consecutive to the state sentence, the court opined it could make
the sentence concurrent only if the offenses were the same. This was error because, first, even the guidelines do not require that
offenses be the same for sentences to be concurrent, and, second, courts have broad statutory authority to impose concurrent
sentences and may depart or vary from whatever the guidelines advise.

*15  V. ARGUMENT

A. MR. KOZIOL'S CONVICTION SHOULD BE VACATED BECAUSE HIS DEMAND LETTER

CANNOT SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR EXTORTION UNDER 18 U.S.C. § 1951 AND
THE INSTRUCTIONS WERE ERRONEOUS EVEN IF IT COULD SUPPORT A CONVICTION.

1. Reviewability and Standard of Review.

Defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal at trial and after trial. See ER 63-66; CR 117. Counsel also proposed a
jury instruction which stated “threats to file a lawsuit, even if frivolous, fraudulent, baseless, or supported by false evidence,
are not wrongful as a matter of law.” ER 85. Finally, counsel objected to including “unlawful” as an alternative definition of
“wrongful.” See ER 72-73.

The district court rejected the proposed instruction and overruled the objection to “unlawful.” This left an elements instruction
stating: “A threat is wrongful if it is unlawful or if the defendant knew he was not entitled to obtain the property.” ER 82. The
court also denied the motion for judgment of acquittal. See ER 37-49.

Rulings on motions for judgment of acquittal are reviewed de novo, using the standard of “whether, viewing the evidence in the
light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond
a reasonable doubt.” *16  United States v. Liew, 856 F.3d 585, 596 (9th Cir. 2017) (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis in
original). Formulation of jury instructions is reviewed for abuse of discretion, but whether they correctly define the elements of
the offense and adequately cover theories is reviewed de novo. Id. at 595-96. “The relevant inquiry is whether the instructions
as a whole are misleading or inadequate to guide the jury's deliberation.” Id. at 596 (internal quotations omitted).
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2. This Court Should Follow Overwhelming Authority Holding Litigation and Threats of

Litigation, Even When Made in Bad Faith, Cannot Constitute Extortion Under § 1951.

18 U.S.C. § 1951, known as the Hobbs Act, defines extortion as “the obtaining of property from another, with his consent,

induced by wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or fear, or under color of official right.” 18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)
(2). The statute does not further define “wrongful” or “fear.” The present case raises the question of when, if ever, a threat to
file a lawsuit is the “wrongful” use of “fear.”

A number of federal courts have considered this question. While most of the cases are civil RICO 2  cases, a criminal statute

must have the same meaning in all contexts, see Leocal v. Ashcroft, 543 U.S. 1, 12 n.8 (2004); United States v. Medina-
Villa, 567 F.3d 507, 512 (9th Cir. 2009). The vast majority of courts have *17  held the filing of a lawsuit and/or the threat to

file a lawsuit does not violate § 1951 even when the claim is frivolous, meritless, or made in bad faith.

This Court itself has offered a passing comment. In First Pacific Bancorp, Inc. v. Bro, 847 F.2d 542 (9th Cir. 1988), the Court

cited a district court opinion for the proposition that “threat of litigation [is] not [a] predicate act for RICO purposes.” Id.

at 547 (citing American Nursing Care of Toledo v. Leisure, 609 F. Supp. 419, 430 (N.D. Ohio 1984)). Later opinions from
other circuits have read First Pacific Bancorp as adopting the more general proposition that no threat of litigation, regardless of

merit or bad faith, is extortion. See Deck v. Engineered Laminates, 349 F.3d 1253, 1258 (10th Cir. 2003); United States
v. Pendergraft, 297 F.3d 1198, 1205 (11th Cir. 2002). See also Langan v. Smith, 312 F. Supp. 3d 201, 205 (D. Mass. 2018);

FindTheBest.com, Inc. v. Luman View Tech. LLC, 20 F. Supp. 3d 451, 457 (S.D.N.Y. 2014); DirecTV v. Cavanaugh, 321
F. Supp. 2d 825, 834 (E.D. Mich. 2003).

Other courts of appeals have squarely held filing or threatening a lawsuit is not extortion even when the claim is frivolous,

meritless, or made in bad faith. First was the Eighth Circuit in I.S. Joseph Co. v. J. Lauritzen A/S, 751 F.2d 265 (8th Cir. 1984).
After “assum[ing] for purposes of argument (though the state court has found otherwise) that the threat to sue was groundless

and made in bad faith,” id. at 267, the court held this made no difference. It stated: “Such conduct may be tortious under
state law, but we decline to expand the federal extortion statute to make it a crime.” Id. It explained:

In reaching this result we have in mind two additional factors. First, criminal statutes are to be strictly
construed, and only the most liberal construction of the word “fear” in the extortion statute could make it
apply to the conduct alleged in this complaint. Second, if we were to hold that two threats to file a civil
action, or, as one theory asserted in the complaint *18  would have it, one threat to file a civil action and one
instance of travel for the purpose of making such a threat, constituted a “pattern of racketeering activity,”
citizens and foreigners alike might feel that their right of access to the courts in this country had been
severely chilled. Judges and lawyers often complain that the courts are inundated with a flood of litigation,
but the fact remains that litigation is as American as apple pie. If the suit is groundless or filed in bad faith,
the law of torts may provide a remedy. Resort to a federal criminal statute is unnecessary.

Id. at 267-68.
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Next was the Sixth Circuit in Vemco., Inc. v. Carmardella, 23 F.3d 129 (6th Cir. 1994). It held, citing the same district court
opinion cited in First Pacific Bancorp, that “[a] threat of litigation if a party fails to fulfill even a fraudulent contract ... does

not constitute extortion.” Id. at 134. While stated in just one sentence, this holding has also been recognized as establishing

the general proposition, both by other circuits and within the circuit. See Deck, 349 F.3d at 1258; Pendergraft, 297 F.3d
at 1205; HTC Sweden AB v. Innovatech Prods. & Equip. Co., No. 3:07-CV-232, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76690, at *33 (E.D.
Tenn. Sept. 30, 2008).

Next was the First Circuit. In Gabovitch v. Shear, 1995 U.S. App. LEXIS 32856 (1st Cir. Nov. 21, 1995) (unpublished), the
court quoted I.S. Joseph with approval: “If a suit is groundless or filed in bad faith, the law of torts may provide a remedy.

Resort to a federal criminal statute is unnecessary.” Gabovitch, 1995 U.S. App. LEXIS 32856, at *5 (quoting I.S. Joseph,
751 F.2d at 267-68). In Dias v. Bogins, 1998 U.S. App LEXIS 536 (1st Cir. Jan. 13, 1998) (unpublished), the court again cited
I.S. Joseph - for the proposition that “although a threat to sue, if groundless and made in bad faith, may be tortious under state
law, it is not extortion under federal law.” Id., 1998 U.S. App LEXIS 2958, at *2.

The Eleventh Circuit then addressed the question in Pendergraft. It first *19  recognized, citing I.S. Joseph, First Pacific
Bancorp, and Vemco, that “[s]everal courts have held that a threat to file a lawsuit, even if made in bad faith, is not ‘wrongful’

within the meaning of the Hobbs Act.” Pendergraft, 297 F.3d at 1205. It acknowledged the prior cases were civil RICO cases,
but noted, “By rejecting such threats as predicate acts, these courts have implicitly held that threats to sue cannot constitute
criminal extortion.” Id. The court then held the litigation threat in the case before it was not “‘wrongful’ within the meaning of

the Hobbs Act” “even if made in bad faith and supported by false affidavits.” Id. at 1206. It reasoned:
After all, under our system, parties are encouraged to resort to courts for the redress of wrongs and the enforcement of rights. For
this reason, litigants may be sanctioned for only the most frivolous of actions. These sanctions include tort actions for malicious
prosecution and abuse of process, and in some cases recovery of attorney's fees, but even these remedies are heavily disfavored
because they discourage the resort to courts.

History has taught us that, if people take the law into their own hands, an endless cycle of violence can erupt, and we therefore
encourage people to take their problems to court. We trust the courts, and their time-tested procedures, to produce reliable
results, separating validity from invalidity, honesty from dishonesty. While our process is sometimes expensive and occasionally
inaccurate, we have confidence in it.

Id. at 1206-07 (citations omitted).

Pendergraft did place some weight on the fact the entity sued there was a government, see id. at 1207, but that was not necessary
to its decision. The court noted, “While the case before us involves a threat to sue a government, we are troubled by any use
of this federal criminal statute to punish civil litigants.” Id. at 1207 (emphasis in original). The court subsequently applied

Pendergraft to lawsuits against non-government entities in Raney v. Allstate Ins. Co., 370 F.3d 1086 (11th Cir. 2004). See

Raney, 370 F.3d at 1088.

The Tenth Circuit joined the parade in Deck, citing “a multitude of other *20  courts in holding that meritless litigation is not

extortion under § 1951.” Id., 349 F.3d at 1258. It explained:

Extortion is the antithesis of litigation as a means of resolving disputes. To promote social stability, we
encourage resort to the courts rather than resort to force and violence. Yet recognizing abusive litigation
as a form of extortion would subject almost any unsuccessful lawsuit to a colorable extortion (and often a
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RICO) claim. Whenever an adverse verdict results from failure of the factfinder to believe some evidence
presented by the plaintiff, the adverse party could contend that the plaintiff engaged in extortionate litigation.
Comfortable that the adjective “wrongful” in the extortion statute was not intended to apply to litigation,
we hold that Plaintiff's allegations of bad-faith litigation do not state the predicate act of extortion.

Id.

The Second and Fifth Circuits have joined more recently. The Fifth Circuit, quoting Pendergraft, held:
In the absence of corruption, we agree with our sister circuit that “prosecuting litigation activities as federal crimes would
undermine the policies of access and finality that animate our legal system. Moreover, allowing such charges would arguably
turn many state-law actions for malicious prosecutions into federal RICO actions.”

Snow Ingredients, Inc. v. SnoWizard, Inc., 833 F.3d 512, 525 (5th Cir. 2016) (quoting Pendergraft, 297 F.3d at 1208).
The Second Circuit - citing Snow Ingredients, Raney, Deck, and Gabovitch - “agree[d] with the reasoning of these opinions
and conclude[d] that allegations of frivolous, fraudulent, or baseless litigation activities - without more - cannot constitute a
RICO predicate act.” Kim v. Kimm, 884 F.3d 98, 104 (2d Cir. 2018). The Second Circuit also noted the “compelling policy
arguments supporting this rule.” Id.

First, if litigation activity were adequate to state a claim under RICO, every unsuccessful lawsuit could
spawn a retaliatory action, which would inundate the federal courts with procedurally complex RICO
pleadings. Furthermore, permitting such claims would erode the principles undergirding *21  the doctrines
of res judicata and collateral estoppel, as such claims frequently call into question the validity of documents
presented in the underlying litigation as well as the judicial decisions that relied upon them. Moreover,
endorsing this interpretation of RICO would chill litigants and lawyers and frustrate the well-established
public policy goal of maintaining open access to the courts because any litigant's or attorney's pleading and
correspondence in an unsuccessful lawsuit could lead to drastic RICO liability.

Id. (citations and internal quotations omitted).

District courts have rightly described this weight of authority as “all agreed,” FindTheBest.com, Inc. v. Luman View Tech.
LLC, 20 F. Supp. 3d at 457, “overwhelming[ ],” Langan v. Smith, 312 F. Supp. 3d at 205, and “well accepted,” Quick v. EDUCAP,

Inc., 318 F. Supp. 3d 121, 142 (D.D.C. 2018). It is not just one or two circuits, but, in the words of Deck, “a multitude.” Id.,

349 F.3d at 1258. 3

The only authority the government mustered to argue the contrary in the *22  district court was (1) an unpublished Eleventh

Circuit opinion - United States v. Cuya, 724 Fed. Appx. 720 (11th Cir.) (unpublished), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 2591 (2018) -

which the government argued overrode Pendergraft; (2) dictum in United States v. Sturm, 870 F.2d 769 (1st Cir. 1989); (3)
two district court opinions - United States v. Godwin-Painter, No. CR415-100, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 136158 (S.D. Ga. Oct.

6, 2015), and Hall American Center Associates Ltd. Partnership v. Dick, 726 F. Supp. 1083 (E.D. Mich. 1989); and (4) three
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state court opinions - State v. Hynes, 978 A.2d 264 (N.H. 2009), Flatley v. Mauro, 139 P.3d 2 (Cal. 2006), and State
v. Roth, 673 A.2d 285 (N.J. Super. 1996). See CR 132, at 16-17 n.11, 19.

Cuya, as an unpublished opinion, could hardly overrule Pendergraft - and the Raney case which followed Pendergraft - and was
likely fact-based. The government pointed out in its Cuya brief that the defendant's threats included detention and forfeiture and
the lay victims would not have understood “that consequences such as detention or forfeiture could only result from a lawful

court order.” Brief for Appellee, at 18, United States v. Cuya, No. 15-10491 (11th Cir. July 21, 2017). The Eleventh Circuit
is only one of the seven circuits cited above, moreover.

The First Circuit opinion in Sturm is not persuasive contrary authority because it simply offered a hypothetical of A suing B and
stated that “[i]t would be unjust to convict A of extortion unless she knew she had no claim to the property that she allegedly

sought to extort.” Id., 870 F.2d at 774. The court did not have the case of a lawsuit without a claim of right before it and
did not address the already-existing contrary holding in I.S. Joseph. The later First Circuit opinions in Gabovitch and Dias hold
exactly the opposite of what the government claims *23  Sturm stands for.

The two district court opinions are also unpersuasive. Hall is no longer good law in its own circuit because of the Sixth Circuit's
subsequent opinion in Vemco. See HTC Sweden AB v. Innovatech Prods. & Equip. Co., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76690, at *33-34
(noting “Hall predated Vemco”). Hall is also factually distinguishable because there were alleged other acts outside the litigation,
such as harassment of third parties, interference with a joint venture, and an attempt to persuade a United States Attorney to

investigate the plaintiff. See E. Sav. Bank, FSB v. Papageorge, 31 F. Supp. 3d 1, 14 n.4 (D.D.C. 2014) (discussing facts of
Hall). Godwin-Painter is factually distinguishable because the defendant “threatened to release ‘damaging information.”’ Id.,
2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 136158, at *4.

Finally, the state court opinions are unpersuasive. Hynes acknowledged the federal opinions were “contrary,” id., 978 A.2d at
194, and this Court, as another federal court, should follow the federal opinions, not the state court opinion. Flatley, like Hall
and Godwin-Painter, involved threats beyond the lawsuit, such as giving information to “appropriate authorities,” “go[ing]

public,” and “hav[ing] the media lined up.” Id., 139 P.3d at 22. Roth focused on the particulars of a New Jersey statute.

See id., 673 A.2d at 290.

It is not just the weight of authority, moreover. Principles of statutory construction and policy considerations support the weight

of authority. The rule of lenity does apply to the Hobbs Act, see Scheidler v. NOW, Inc., 537 U.S. 393, 408-09 (2003);

see also I.S. Joseph, 751 F.2d at 267 (noting “criminal statutes are to be strictly construed”), and “wrongful” and “fear” are
certainly ambiguous enough to warrant the rule's application. There are also the policy considerations *24  articulated in I.S.
Joseph, Pendergraft, Deck, and Kim - the interest in encouraging citizens to use the courts rather than chilling their access; the
interest in not undercutting the doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel and flooding the courts with retaliatory RICO

claims; and the availability of alternative remedies sometimes provided by tort law. See supra pp. 17-18, 19, 20, 20-21.

In sum, the vast weight of authority - fairly characterized as overwhelming - holds that filing or threatening to file a lawsuit is
not extortion, even if it is frivolous, meritless, or made in bad faith. This Court should not make itself an outlier by declining
to follow that authority - and its own dictum in First Pacific Bancorp.

3. Already Existing Authority in This Circuit at Least Requires the Threat of
Litigation to Be a Sham and Mr. Koziol's Threat Failed to Qualify as a Sham.
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If the Court is hesitant to follow the holdings of the other circuits and its dictum in First Pacific Bancorp, there remains a hurdle
established by the Court's existing holdings. A well-established principle of statutory construction which applies to litigation

and threats to litigate is what is known as the Noerr-Pennington doctrine, after the cases of Eastern Railroad Presidents

Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc., 365 U.S. 127 (1961), and United Mine Workers v. Pennington, 381 U.S. 657 (1965).
This doctrine, first recognized in antitrust cases, immunizes most litigation activity, to protect the First Amendment right to

petition the government for relief through access to the courts. See Sosa v. DirecTV, Inc., 437 F.3d 923, 929-31 (9th Cir.

2006). The doctrine is not absolute, *25  but does protect all litigation activity which is not a “sham.” Id. at 938. To qualify
as a “sham,” a claim must be, first, “objectively baseless,” and, second, made for an improper purpose. Id.

The Noerr-Pennington doctrine is not limited to antitrust cases, moreover. It “stands for a generic rule of statutory construction,

applicable to any statutory interpretation that could implicate the rights protected by the Petition Clause.” Sosa, 437 F.3d at
931. Sosa applied the doctrine in two ways directly on point here. First, it held the doctrine extends to pre-litigation demand

letters like Mr. Koziol's. See id. at 936. Second, it applied the doctrine to the very statute under which Mr. Koziol was charged

- the Hobbs Act. See id. at 939-40. It held: “Applying the Noerr-Pennington statutory construction presumption, we do not

believe the Hobbs Act imposes liability for threats of litigation where the asserted claims do not rise to the level of a sham.” Id. 4

*26  Even this more limited protection applies to Mr. Koziol. This is because his claims did not rise to the level of a sham
under the Noerr-Pennington doctrine. A claim is a sham only if there is a “use [of] ‘the governmental process - as opposed to

the outcome of that process.” Professional Real Estate Investors, Inc. v. Columbia Pictures Industries, Inc., 508 U.S. 49, 61

(1993) (quoting Columbia v. Omni Outdoor Advertising, Inc., 499 U.S. 365, 380 (1991) (emphasis in original)).

“The label ‘sham’ is appropriately applied to a case, or series of cases, in which the plaintiff is indifferent to the outcome of the
litigation itself, but has nevertheless sought to impose a collateral harm on the defendant by, for example, impairing his credit,

abusing the discovery process, or interfering with his access to governmental agencies.” Professional Real Estate Investors,
508 U.S. at 68 (Stevens, J., concurring in judgment). Examples in a case such as the present one might be forcing Entertainer
to sing or not sing a particular song, forcing Entertainer to perform or not perform at a particular venue, or destruction of
Entertainer's reputation for the mere sake of destroying it.

There was no evidence Mr. Koziol had any goals like these. He wanted exactly what the outcome of a successful lawsuit is - a
cash settlement. That makes his claim not a sham under the Noerr-Pennington doctrine.

4. There Was Instructional Error Even if Mr. Koziol's Threat to Litigate Could Somehow Constitute Extortion.

If the Court both declines to follow the overwhelming weight of authority *27  discussed supra pp. 16-24 and finds the sham
exception to the Noerr-Pennington doctrine could be satisfied, there was instructional error which requires a new trial.

a. It was error to instruct “[a] threat is wrongful... if the defendant knew he was not
entitled to obtain the property” without adding requirements satisfying the sham exception.

The district court's instruction that “[a] threat is wrongful... if the defendant knew he was not entitled to obtain the property,”
supra p. 15, was erroneous under either of the lines of authority discussed above. At the very least, Sosa establishes a threat
to file a lawsuit is extortion only if the sham exception to the Noerr-Pennington exception apples. This requires two showings.
First, there must be a showing the lawsuit is “objectively baseless.” Supra p. 25. Second, there must be a showing of misuse
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of “the governmental process - as opposed to the outcome of that process,” or a showing the defendant “is indifferent to the
outcome of litigation itself, but has nevertheless sought to impose a collateral harm.” Supra p. 25 (emphasis in original).

The district court's instruction required only that “the defendant knew he was not entitled to obtain the property,” which is
comparable to the requirement that the lawsuit be “objectively baseless.” It said nothing about the additional requirement of an
improper collateral purpose. It thereby completely eliminated the second element of the Noerr-Pennington doctrine.

The error can hardly be found to be harmless, moreover. The best view of the evidence is, as argued above, that a reasonable
jury could not possibly make the required finding Mr. Koziol had a collateral purpose and was indifferent to the *28  outcome
of the threatened lawsuit. At the very least, a reasonable jury would not have to have made that finding.

b. It was error to instruct the jury could find the threat was “wrongful” based on just a
finding the threat was “unlawful,” especially without providing a definition of “unlawful.”

There was additional error in including the “unlawful” alternative in the definition of “wrongful.” The instruction allowed the
jury to find Mr. Koziol's threat was “wrongful” “if it [was] unlawful or if [he] knew he was not entitled to obtain the property.”
ER 82 (emphasis added). This created two problems.

First, the use of the word “or” meant the jury could find the threat to file a lawsuit was “wrongful” even if Mr. Koziol believed
he had a valid claim, by finding it was “unlawful.” That meant the jury could convict without finding even the first Noerr-
Pennington element of an objectively baseless claim. Not requiring a finding of that first element is even worse than not requiring
a finding of the second element.

The error was aggravated by the complete failure to define “unlawful.” A term used in a jury instruction may be left undefined

only when “it expresses a concept within the jury's ordinary experience.” United States v. Tirouda, 394 F.3d 683, 688 (9th
Cir. 2005). It cannot be left undefined when it “has ... greater import in this context than its ordinary meaning,” United States
v. Tirado, 290 Fed. Appx. 28, 31 (9th Cir. 2008) (unpublished), or is “used in a technical or confusing manner,” United States
v. Bhatia, 259 Fed. Appx. 950, 952 (9th Cir. 2007) (unpublished). When the term has a legally limited meaning that “evades

a *29  general reading,” it must be specifically defined. United States v. Vasquez-Hernandez, 849 F.3d 1219, 1225-26 n.3
(9th Cir. 2017) (internal quotations omitted).

“Unlawful,” as used here, was such a term. It is not clear even counsel and the court agreed on what it meant. Defense counsel,
pointing to the comment for the model jury instruction the court used, opined it “is like a threat to impede an investigation, a
threat to harm someone.” ER 72. See Manual of Model Criminal Jury Instructions for the District Courts of the Ninth Circuit §
8.142A comment (2010 ed.) (giving same example). The prosecutor countered, “Or as the Court explained, it can be malicious
prosecution, et cetera, et cetera.” ER 73.

It is not clear what other crimes or torts the prosecutor meant by “et cetera, et cetera,” but the example he gave dramatically
illustrates why further definition was required. Malicious prosecution - and the related torts of malicious prosecution of a

civil suit and abuse of process - have technical legal definitions with multiple elements. See Oren Royal Oaks Venture v.

Greenberg, Bernhard, Weiss & Karma, Inc., 728 P.2d 1202, 1209 (Cal. 1986); Bertero v. National General Corp., 529 P.2d

608, 613-14 (Cal. 1974); Singleton v. Perry, 289 P.2d 794, 798 (Cal. 1955). For the jury to find those “unlawful” threats,
it had to know what the elements of the torts are.

This instructional error also cannot be found to be harmless. The defense had a strong argument Mr. Koziol honestly believed
Entertainer was the man who had received the sexual massage even if that belief was mistaken. It was sufficiently strong that
there is a real issue about whether the jury could even find the contrary, as discussed in the next section of this brief. Certainly it
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was possible for the jury to find Mr. Koziol was honestly mistaken. That makes it *30  impossible to conclude it was harmless
to provide the separate “unlawful” alternative and then fail even to define “unlawful.”

B. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT BECAUSE NO RATIONAL JURY COULD HAVE FOUND
MR. KOZIOL WAS NOT HONESTLY MISTAKEN ABOUT THE MASSAGE CUSTOMER'S IDENTITY.

1. Reviewability and Standard of Review.

Defense counsel made his motion for judgment of acquittal “as to all claims and all elements.” ER 63. The standard of review
for such a motion is “whether, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact
could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” Supra p. 15 (emphasis in original.)

2. No Rational Jury Could Have Found Mr. Koziol Knew the Massage Customer Was Manager Rather than Entertainer.

As defense counsel conceded in closing argument, see RT(6/1/18 p.m.) 61, the government's evidence was sufficient to show
it was Manager rather than Entertainer who came for the massage and was subsequently confronted with a Doberman Pinscher

and told to leave. 5  That is not all the government had to show, *31  however. The government also had to show Mr. Koziol
knew it was Manager rather than Entertainer. The government must show a rational jury could conclude the actual massage
customer was Manager and Mr. Koziol knew this.

There are multiple pieces of undisputed evidence raising grave doubt on the latter point. And grave doubt is enough, for “[r]eview
of the evidence in the light most favorable to the government must still meet the requirement of proof beyond a reasonable

doubt.” United States v. Recio, 258 F.3d 1069, 1072 n.2 (9th Cir. 2000), rev'd on other grounds, 537 U.S. 270 (2003).

See also United States v. Nevils, 598 F.3d 1158, 1167 (9th Cir. 2010) (en banc) (acknowledging evidence construed most
favorably to government “may still be so supportive of innocence that no rational juror could conclude that the government
proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt”).

The first area of evidence suggesting Mr. Koziol's wife - and hence Mr. Koziol - believed the massage customer was Entertainer
are the initial contacts by Mr. Koziol's wife's attorney. The voicemail on Manager's cell phone was left for “Andy,” which is
Entertainer's first name, not Manager's first name. RT(5/30/18 a.m.) 46, 70; RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 60, 90. A subsequent email was
also addressed to “Andy.” RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 62. Finally, while it was Manager's name that was used in the formal demand letter,
it was (1) placed in quotation marks in five of the seven places it was used, see ER 133-36; (2) prefaced by “[p]urportedly” the
first time it was used substantively, see ER 133; and (3) possibly used only because that was a requirement of any settlement,
as implied by Manager's claim when he *32  called that he was the customer and as expressly articulated in Manager's
attorneys' written response stating “we will not entertain any discussions regarding [Entertainer],” ER 139. Manager's attorney
acknowledged “there was some obvious confusion about who was there.” RT(5/30/18 a.m.) 97.

The second area of evidence suggesting Mr. Koziol had good reason to believe the customer was Entertainer was the settlement.
The claim was settled within three weeks and with minimal resistance - negotiating only a $25,000 reduction of the initial
$250,000 demand. This strongly suggested a desire to cover up for someone more important. That was suggested even more
strongly by the express inclusion of Entertainer in the release section of the settlement agreement.

Finally, the later contacts by Mr. Koziol and his attorney strongly suggested a belief the customer was Entertainer. This attorney,
like the wife's attorney, used Entertainer's name. Similarly, Mr. Koziol's demand letter was addressed to Entertainer. See ER

162. 6
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Most telling was Mr. Koziol's claim he had video of Entertainer, see ER 163. Making a claim about video evidence made sense
only if Mr. Koziol believed it would frighten Entertainer, and it would frighten Entertainer only if Entertainer had actually been
there to be recorded on video. If Entertainer had not been there, the existence of video would not have frightened him, but would
have made him more confident he could disprove the allegations.

In sum, there were multiple areas of evidence showing Mr. Koziol honestly *33  believed Entertainer was the customer. A
rational jury could find this belief was mistaken, but it could not find - at least not beyond a reasonable doubt - that Mr. Koziol
did not honestly hold the belief.

C. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THAT EXTORTION
CAN BE BASED ON A THREAT OF REPUTATIONAL HARM.

1. Reviewability and Standard of Review.

The district court instructed the jury must find a “wrongful threat of economic or reputational harm.” ER 81 (emphasis added).
The defense objected to the inclusion of reputational harm, see ER 57; CR 91, at 2-3, but the district court overruled the objection,
see ER 71. Whether a jury instruction correctly defined the elements of the offense is reviewed de novo. See supra p. 16.

2. The Instruction Was Erroneous Because § 1951 Does Not Apply to Threats of Reputational Harm.

Two Ninth Circuit judges opined on the question of whether § 1951 includes reputational harm in United States v. Brank, 724

Fed. Appx. 527 (9th Cir. 2018) (unpublished). Judge Hurwitz, joined by a visiting district judge from Michigan, opined §

1951 does include reputational harm. See Brank, 724 Fed. Appx. at 529. Judge Reinhardt opined § 1951 does not include
reputational harm. See Brank, 724 Fed. Appx. at 530-31 (Reinhardt, J., dissenting).

*34  There are multiple reasons the Court should adopt Judge Reinhardt's view. 7  First, § 1951's language is, in Judge
Reinhardt's words, “muddled.” Brank, 724 Fed. Appx. at 530 (Reinhardt, J., dissenting). The adjective, “threatened,” modifies

“fear” as well as “force” and “violence.” See 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (“wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or
fear”). This produces a concept of “threatened fear,” which makes no sense.

Second, § 1951 in other respects focuses on threats of harm to persons or property and economic harm. See Brank, 724 Fed.
Appx. at 530 (Reinhardt, J., dissenting). Subsection (b)(1) defines “robbery” as the unlawful taking of property by actual or
threatened force, violence, or injury to “person or property.” More generally, this Court has recognized “the Hobbs Act is aimed

at a particular type of economic activity.” United States v. Atcheson, 94 F.3d 1237, 1242 (9th Cir. 1996).

Third, reputational harm is expressly included in another extortion statute - 18 U.S.C. § 875 - but not expressly included in §
1951. See Brank, 724 Fed. Appx. at 530-31 (Reinhardt, J., dissenting). Compare 18 U.S.C. § 875(d) (“any threat to injure the
property or reputation of the addressee or of another or the reputation of a deceased person or any threat to accuse the addressee

or any other person of a crime”) with 18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)(2) ( “wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or fear”).
This triggers the principle of statutory construction that when language is omitted from one statutory provision while included in

another statutory provision, the omission is presumed to be intentional. See United States v. Youssef, 547 F.3d 1090, 1094-95
(9th Cir. 2008). While this *35  principle is most often applied to provisions within the same statute, it can also be applied

to separate, but related statutes. See, e.g., Youssef, 547 F.3d at 1094-95; Schwenk v. Hartford, 204 F.3d 1187, 1201 n.12
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(9th Cir. 2000). The presumption is strongest when the two provisions were considered simultaneously, see United States

v. O'Donnell, 608 F.3d 546, 552 (9th Cir. 2010), as § 875 and § 1951 were, see Brank, 724 Fed. Appx. at 530 (Reinhardt,

J., dissenting) (noting “[t]he two statutes developed roughly in parallel”); United States v. Jackson, 180 F.3d 55, 69 (2d Cir.
1999) (explaining “[a]lthough the passage of [the predecessor statute to § 875] preceded the passage of the [predecessor statute

to § 1951] by a month, it is plain that the two statutes were considered by Congress contemporaneously”).

Fourth, there is the rule of lenity. See Brank, 724 Fed. Appx. at 531 (Reinhardt, J., dissenting). This rule does apply to §
1951, as noted supra p. 23. Pertinent here is the articulation of the rule set forth in Scheidler v. NOW, Inc.: “When there are two
rational readings of a criminal statute, one harsher than the other, we are to choose the harsher only when Congress has spoken in

clear and definite language.” Id., 537 U.S. at 409 (quoting McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350, 359-60 (1987)). 8

Fifth, “because criminal law is primarily a local not a national matter, we require a clear statement of congressional purpose
before interpreting a federal criminal statute to encompass conduct already subject to state criminal penalties.” Brank, 724 Fed.
Appx. at 531 (Reinhardt, J., dissenting). As expressed by another *36  circuit in rejecting a different proposed expansion of

§ 1951:

It is the sensitive duty of federal courts to review carefully the enforcement of our federal criminal statutes to
prevent their injection into unintended areas of state governance. Exercising that duty, we find it necessary
to nullify this attempted application of the Hobbs Act to circumstances it was never meant to reach.
Incremental extensions of federal criminal jurisdiction arguably present a more pernicious hazard for our
federal system than would a bold accretion to the body of federal crimes. At a minimum, a clear extension of
federal responsibility is likely to be sufficiently visible to provoke inquiries and debate about the propriety
and desirability of changing the state-federal balance. Less abrupt, more subtle expansions, however, such
as nearly occurred here, are less likely to trigger public debate, and, yet, over time cumulatively may amount
to substantial intrusions by federal officials in areas properly left to state enforcement. By holding that the
Hobbs Act does not encompass state-law commercial bribery, we seek to demarcate a point beyond which
Congress intended federal prosecutors not to pass.

United States v. Capo, 817 F.2d 947, 955 (2d Cir. 1987) (en banc).

Judge Hurwitz's opinion did not address any of these concerns but simply offered the Supreme Court's opinion in United
States v. Nardello, 393 U.S. 286 (1969). Nardello did hold “extortion” included reputational harm, but it considered the term

in a different statute. That statute was the “Travel Act,” which is codified in 18 U.S.C. § 1952 and criminalizes travel with

intent to commit certain crimes, including extortion. See Nardello, 393 U.S. at 287.

Importantly, § 1952 sweeps much more broadly than § 1951. It includes not only federal extortion, but also “extortion ...

in violation of the laws of the State in which committed.” 18 U.S.C. § 1952(b)(2). And it was that broader sweep the Court
considered in Nardello. The issue was whether a Pennsylvania state statute that included reputational harm could be treated

as a Travel Act predicate when it labeled the crime “blackmail” rather than “extortion.” See id. at 288-90, 295. After a
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detailed analysis, the Court held the different label did not matter and the *37  Pennsylvania statute could support a Travel Act

conviction. See id. at 288-95. The Court held nothing about the reach of § 1951.

Nardello arguably implies § 1951 does not apply to reputational harm. The Travel Act includes not only extortion in violation

of the laws “of the State in which committed,” but also extortion in violation of the laws “of the United States.” 18 U.S.C. §

1952(b)(2). The laws of the United States of course include § 1951. Had the Court believed § 1951 applied to reputational

harm, it could have avoided its detailed analysis of the state law question. The analysis was necessary only if § 1951 does
not apply to reputational harm.

In sum, Judge Reinhardt's opinion sets forth multiple persuasive reasons why § 1951 should not be read to apply to
reputational harm, and Judge Hurwitz's opinion cites only one case, which (a) construes a different statute with a different scope

and (b) at least implies § 1951 does not apply to reputational harm. The Court should adopt Judge Reinhardt's reasoning.

3. The Error Cannot Be Found to Be Harmless.

An erroneous jury instruction can be found to be harmless only “if it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would

have found the defendant guilty absent the error.” United States v. Villalobos, 748 F.3d 953, 957 (9th Cir. 2014) (internal
quotations and citations omitted). This rigorous test is not satisfied here.

One may begin with the government's argument for the instruction. When the court opined that reputational harm was subsumed
within economic harm, the prosecutor “vehemently disagree[d].” ER 52. He explained:
*38  [Entertainer] testified to two things. One - and I specifically directed him this way - one was about the economic harms

that he believed would befall him if these things were published.

The second was what impact it would have on his reputation. And he talked about being a Baha'i. He talked about his association
with various charities. He talked about performing in the Women's March. He talked about painting him as a hypocrite.

So our theory of the case is that it inflicted two different types of harms on him.

ER 52. The prosecutor subsequently reiterated, “It's a two-prong case.” ER 56. He then repeated in his opposition to the motion
for judgment of acquittal that “the threat to sue here was not predicated on fear of economic loss only, but rather on fear of
reputational and economic harm.” CR 132, at 18.

This was a fair characterization, moreover. Entertainer testified about two things. The first was the harm to his reputation,
describing his work for charity and noting the allegations would label him as a hypocrite. See, e.g., RT(5/31/18 p.m.) 76-77.
The second - “specifically directed” by the prosecutor - was the impact Entertainer believed the harm to his reputation would
have on his income. See, e.g., RT(5/31/18 p.m.) 81 (“It can definitely impact me financially a lot.”)

For the jury to convict based on economic harm, it had to believe both of these things - first, that it would harm Entertainer's
reputation, and, second, the harm to reputation would cause economic harm. For the jury to convict based on reputational harm,
it had to believe only the first of these things. It did not have to speculate about what, if any, economic harm there would be.

The evidence that economic harm would follow from reputational harm was far from overwhelming, moreover. This is not a
case where accounting evidence showed actual lost business. All the jury was given was Entertainer's opinion. The jury could
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have chosen to accept that opinion, but it also could have chosen not to accept it. With the alternative of purely reputational
harm, the jury did not *39  need to make that choice.

D. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING MANAGER'S ATTORNEY TO TESTIFY
ABOUT AN “INVESTIGATION” THAT “DETERMINED” AND FROM WHICH SHE

“INFERRED” WHAT WAS “TRUE” AND WHAT WAS NOT “PLAUSIBLE OR CREDIBLE,”
BECAUSE IT WAS OPINION TESTIMONY ABOUT ANOTHER WITNESS'S CREDIBILITY.

1. Reviewability and Standard of Review.

Defense counsel objected when Manager's attorney offered her opinions based on “investigation.” See ER 90-91, 92, 95, 96. The
district court overruled the objections. See ER 91, 92, 95, 96. Rulings on the admissibility of evidence are generally reviewed for
abuse of discretion, though the legal standard is reviewed de novo. United States v. Torres, 794 F.3d 1053, 1059 (9th Cir. 2015).

2. The Attorney's Testimony Was Improper Opinion Testimony About the Credibility of Another Government Witness.

Three separate times, Manager's attorney, who was the government's first witness, described her opinion that the allegations
of sexual assault were false. See ER 90 (describing “the allegations that we determined to be true”); ER 91 (speaking of “my
understanding based on our investigation that there were more text messages that completed the conversation between [Manager]
and [Mr. *40  Koziol's wife]”); ER 95-96 (referencing “[i]nformation that I have learned from my client” and “information
that I learned from my investigation” and “inferred” from facts learned that “this just was not plausible or credible”). In other
words, it was Manager, one of the government's witnesses, who was telling the truth.

Such testimony that another witness is telling the truth is improper, because it invades the province of the jury. As the Court

held in United States v. Sanchez-Lima, 161 F.3d 545 (9th Cir. 1998):

It is the jurors' responsibility to determine credibility by assessing the witnesses and witness testimony in
light of their own experience. Testimony regarding a witness' credibility is prohibited unless it is admissible
as character evidence.

Id. at 548 (citations and internal quotation omitted). The court reiterated this rule in United States v. Geston, 299 F.3d

1130 (9th Cir. 2002), and United States v. Preston, 873 F.3d 829 (9th Cir. 2017). See Preston, 873 F.3d at 836; Geston,
299 F.3d at 1136.

The testimony need not be a direct assertion in the form of “[witness] is telling the truth,” moreover. It is enough if “a
reasonable juror would have understood [the] testimony as [a witness] professing his belief in the veracity of [another witness's]

allegations.” Preston, 873 F.3d at 838. This test is more than satisfied here, where the attorney spoke of what “we determined
to be true” and what she “inferred” to be “not plausible or credible.”

The prejudice was aggravated by the attorney's references to an “investigation.” This suggested her opinion was based on more
than just what the jurors heard. The suggestion was reinforced by a prosecutor's explanation in front of the jury that the opinion
was “based on her investigation in looking into these issues.” ER 91-92.
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The prejudice was also aggravated by a deficient limiting instruction. The *41  district court did tell the jury the testimony
“was offered only to explain why she did what she did.” ER 98. But the court added a suggestion it should be given at least
some substantive weight:

Obviously, it has some value, probative value, and I'm not diminishing it, but I'm saying that you have to
make the ultimate decision in this case as to whether Mr. Koziol's claims were supported or not supported.
And you should not give undue influence in terms of your ultimate decision as to what Ms. Garvis Wright
is stating.

ER 98-99. In other words, while “the ultimate decision” was up to the jury, as it is with any testimony, the opinion did,

“[o]bviously,” have some “probative value.” 9

There was thus evidentiary error in addition to instructional error. It is another reason Mr. Koziol's conviction must be vacated.

E. THE DISTRICT COURT MADE MULTIPLE SENTENCING ERRORS.

1. Reviewability and Standard of Review.

Defense counsel objected to using the amount in Mr. Koziol's October 2017 email to set his guidelines offense level, arguing
that amount was just an initial position subject to negotiation and Mr. Koziol was in reality seeking far less. See ER 7-9; CR
152, at 2-3. Defense counsel, and Mr. Koziol, also asked that the federal sentence run concurrently with the previously imposed
state sentence. See *42  ER 19, 25. The court ruled it was required to use the amount set forth in the email regardless of what
Mr. Koziol intended, see ER 28, and rejected the request for a concurrent sentence, see ER 26. Sentencing rulings are reviewed
de novo to the extent they are based on statutory or guideline interpretation and for clear error to the extent they are based on
findings of fact. United States v. Gasca-Ruiz, 852 F.3d 1167, 1170 (9th Cir.) (en banc), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 229 (2017).

The defense did not argue the attempt guideline, § 2X1.1, should apply, but that question remains reviewable for plain error.
See United States v. Lloyd, 807 F.3d 1128, 1139 (9th Cir. 2015) (review for plain error where no guidelines objection). The
requirements for plain error are (1) there be an error; (2) the error be “plain,” or “obvious”; (3) the error affected the defendant's
substantial rights; and (4) the error undermined the “fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.”

United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732-36 (1993).

2. The District Court Erred by Using the Amount in Mr. Koziol's October
2017 Email to Set the Offense Level Under § 2B3.3 of the Guidelines.

Subsection (b)(1) of § 2B3.3 does require an increase in offense level based on “the greater of the amount obtained or
demanded.” In the typical case, determining this amount poses little problem, for the defendant is operating completely outside
the legal system and there is no established practice of negotiation. See, e.g., United States v. Nicolescu, 541 Fed. Appx. 93,
95 (2d Cir. 2013) (unpublished) (defendants invaded home, bound and threatened victims with death, and demanded money);
United States v. Zhuang, 270 F.3d 107, 108-09 (2d Cir. 2001) (defendant kidnapped victim and demanded ransom); United States
*43  v. Knox, 68 F.3d 990, 993-95 (7th Cir. 1995) (defendant demanded payment of debt and made implied threats of physical

harm). 10  Each of these opinions rejected arguments the court should ignore the amount demanded in favor of actual loss,
probable loss, and/or intended loss. See Nicolescu, 541 Fed. Appx. at 98-99; Zhuang, 270 F.3d at 109; Knox, 68 F.3d at 1002.
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In an extortion like that in the present case - if it was extortion - the actual “demand” is not so readily determined. First, as
a general matter, people involved in litigation know the initial “demand” is not the real demand. As expressed in one legal
guide on the subject, “the initial demand should not be your ‘bottom line’ but, rather, should start higher, leaving room for
negotiation.” 2 Zerne P. Haning, et al., California Practice Guide Personal Injury, § 4:185 (2018). As conceded by Manager's
attorney, “that is a basic principle of negotiation.” RT(5/30/18) 90.

Second, there was ambiguity about the “demand” in this very case - because there were multiple “demands.” Mr. Koziol's letter
with the $1 million figure was neither the first demand nor the last. The initial letters from Mr. Koziol's attorney named no
specific amount but simply summarized the allegations and asked the other attorneys to contact him. There were also additional
communications after the letter with the $1 million figure - namely, emails recognizing the possibility of a counteroffer - which
indicated that was just a starting point for negotiation.

What a court must do in these circumstances is make a finding based on all the evidence about what the defendant's intended

demand was. Determining such *44  facts is what courts do all the time in determining loss under § 2B1.1. See, e.g., United

States v. Lloyd, 807 F.3d at 1142 (scope of jointly undertaken criminal activity to which defendant agreed); United States v.

Wilson, 900 F.2d 1350, 1355-56 (9th Cir. 1990) (value of property). Failing to do this under § 2B3.3 and simply taking the
only specific number that is thrown out means basing a sentence on posturing.

3. The District Court Plainly Erred by Failing to Apply § 2X1.1 of the Guidelines

and Consider a Reduction in § 2X1.1(b)(1) for Incomplete Attempts.

a. The failure to apply § 2X1.1 was an error which was “plain.”

The guidelines generally address attempts, as well as conspiracies and solicitation, in § 2X1.1. That guideline makes the base

offense level under § 2X1.1 the same as “[t]he base offense level from the guideline for the substantive offense, plus any

adjustments from such guideline for any intended offense conduct that can be established with reasonable certainty.” U.S.S.G.
§ 2X1.1(a). It also adds an additional specific offense characteristic in subsection (b)(1). That subsection states:

If an attempt, decrease by 3 levels, unless the defendant completed all the acts the defendant believed
necessary for successful completion of the substantive offense or the circumstances demonstrate that the
defendant was about to complete all such acts but for apprehension or interruption by some similar event
beyond the defendant's control.

U.S.S.G. § 2X1.1(b)(1).

It is attempted extortion Mr. Koziol was convicted of. The charge in the indictment was that he “knowingly and with the intent
to obtain property, *45  attempted to obstruct, delay, and affect commerce and the movement of articles and commodities in
commerce, by extortion, ... in that [he] knowingly attempted to obtain property consisting of approximately $1,000,000 from
victim Entertainer.” ER 107 (emphasis added). The court also instructed on attempted extortion, including the standard attempt
requirements that there be a “substantial step” which “strongly corroborated” intent to commit the crime and that “[m]ere
preparation” is not a “substantial step.” ER 81. See Manual of Model Criminal Jury Instructions for the District Courts of
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the Ninth Circuit § 8.142A comment (2010 ed.) (noting language taken from Ninth Circuit attempt cases). Finally, the verdict
described the crime as “Attempted Extortion Affecting Commerce By Nonviolent Threat.” CR 114, at 2 (emphasis added).

Section 2X1.1 plainly applies to attempted extortion, moreover. While one unpublished Second Circuit case opines it “is
unclear,” United States v. Nicolescu, 541 Fed. Appx. 93, 99 (2d Cir. 2013) (unpublished), multiple other courts have applied

§ 2X1.1 to extortion offenses as a matter of course, with little, if any, discussion, see, e.g., United States v. Aliga, 617 Fed.

Appx. 971, 975-76 (11th Cir. 2015) (unpublished); United States v. Zizzo, 120 F.3d 1338, 1361 n.8 (7th Cir. 1997); United
States v. Bellomo, 176 F.3d 580, 598 (2d Cir. 1999); United States v. Falco, 1996 U.S. App. LEXIS 41223, at *3-4 (2d Cir. July
25, 1996) (unpublished); United States v. Sturman, 49 F.3d 1275, 1284 n.3 (7th Cir. 1995). And the application is clear from

the guideline's language, which is sufficient to satisfy the “plain” requirement of the plain error standard. See, e.g., United
States v. Joseph, 716 F.3d 1273, 1280 (9th Cir. 2013) (recognizing “the clear text and structure of the statute, along with the
Sentencing Guidelines” sufficient to show error was plain). First, the title of the guideline states it applies to attempts “Not *46

Covered by a Specific Offense Guideline,” U.S.S.G. § 2X1.1, and neither § 2B3.3 nor any other guideline specifically

applies to attempted extortion. Compare, e.g., U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1 (specific guideline for attempted murder and assault with

intent to commit murder); U.S.S.G. § 2D1.1 (express inclusion of attempt in guideline for drug offenses). Second, there is a

cross-reference within § 2X1.1 directing when to apply another guideline, and it states that “[w]hen an attempt, solicitation,

or conspiracy is expressly covered by another offense guideline section, apply that guideline section.” U.S.S.G. § 2X1.1(c)
(1) (emphasis added). Third, there is an application note that lists attempts, solicitations, and conspiracies that are “expressly

covered by other guidelines,” and it does not include § 2B3.3. See U.S.S.G. § 2X1.1, comment. (n.1).

These clear guideline provisions make the failure to apply § 2X1.1 “plain,” or “obvious.” The second prong of the plain
error standard is therefore satisfied.

b. The error affected Mr. Koziol's substantial rights and the
fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.

The error also affected Mr. Koziol's substantial rights and the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.

Both of these prongs are satisfied when there is a guideline error affecting the guideline range. See Rosales-Mireles v. United

States, 138 S. Ct. 1897, 1911 (2018); Molina-Martinez v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 1338, 1347 (2016). The error here was

such an error because the 3-level reduction in § 2X1.1(b)(1) would have applied.

The lead Ninth Circuit case interpreting § 2X1.1(b) is United States v. Martinez-Martinez, 156 F.3d 936 (9th Cir. 1998). It
held, in applying the identical *47  provision for conspiracies in subsection (b)(2), that a defendant is entitled to the reduction
unless completion of the offense is inevitable.

[U]nless the remaining steps to be taken in the commission of the crime are so insubstantial that the
commission of the substantive offense is inevitable, barring an unforeseen occurrence that frustrates its
completion, the conspirators are not about to complete the requisite acts and the defendant must be granted
the three point reduction.
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Id. at 939 (emphasis in original).

Mr. Koziol had taken only the first step of making an initial demand. He did send additional emails in response to Entertainer's
attorneys' emails, but there were additional substantial steps that remained. Those included, inter alia, negotiating the terms of
a settlement agreement like Mr. Koziol's wife had negotiated with Manager, meeting and signing the agreement, and arranging
for payment. There were also further steps to take if no settlement offer was forthcoming, such as drafting an actual complaint
to illustrate what might be filed and/or actually filing a complaint if presenting a draft was not enough. These remaining steps
were hardly “so insubstantial that the commission of the substantive offense [was] inevitable,” so the reduction applied under
Martinez-Martinez.

4. The District Court Erred by Concluding It Could Not Run the
Sentence Concurrently to the Previously Imposed State Sentence.

District courts have statutory authority to run a sentence either concurrently or consecutively to an already existing sentence,

under 18 U.S.C. § 3584(a). United States v. Wills, 881 F.2d 823, 826 (9th Cir. 1989). There is also a guideline - §

5G1.3 - but it cannot override the statute. Instead, the guideline and statute *48  must be “[h]armoniz[ed].” United States
v. Williams, 291 F.3d 1180, 1192 (9th Cir. 2002). See also United States v. Lail, 963 F.2d 263, 264 (9th Cir. 1992) (recognizing
statutory discretion should be exercised “in harmony” with guidelines). Courts must consider the guideline, but may either

depart under guideline departure procedures, see Williams, 291 F.3d at 1182-83; United States v. Pedrioli, 931 F.2d 31,

32-33 (9th Cir. 1991), or, now that the guidelines are advisory, vary based on the 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) factors, see United
States v. Rangel, 697 F.3d 795, 802-03 (9th Cir. 2012).

The district court's error was in not recognizing this discretion. Mr. Koziol pointed out in a colloquy with the court: “I remember
reading in the law library you are allowed to run it concurrent or consecutive to any state sentence or to grant a downward
departure.” ER 25. The court initially seemed to agree with this - saying, “You are exactly correct, Mr. Koziol” - but then
placed a limit on its authority, saying, “I could impose it concurrently if in fact the crimes were the same.” ER 26 (emphasis
added). When Mr. Koziol responded that “it's a downward departure,” the court repeated its misunderstanding that “to impose
a concurrent sentence, it would have to be a finding by me that the crimes are same.” ER 26 (emphasis added).

In fact, there is no such requirement - under either the guidelines or the statute. To begin, not even the guidelines require
that “the crimes are [the] same.” Sentences must be concurrent if the other offense is “relevant conduct” under the guidelines,

see U.S.S.G. § 5G1.3(b), but they may be either concurrent or consecutive in most other cases, see U.S.S.G. §
5G1.3(d) (providing sentence in cases not covered by other subsections may be imposed concurrently, partially concurrently,
or consecutively “to achieve a reasonable punishment for the instant *49  offense”).

There is another provision of § 5G1.3, subsection (a), which advises a consecutive sentence in circumstances like those
here. It provides, “If the instant offense was committed ... after sentencing for, but before commencing service of, [another]
term of imprisonment, a sentence for the instant offense shall be imposed to run consecutively to the undischarged term of

imprisonment.” U.S.S.G. § 5G1.3(a). But that provision, as a now merely advisory guideline, does not require a consecutive

sentence. The court has statutory discretion under § 3584(a) and can depart or vary from § 5G1.3(a) under the case law
discussed above.

In sum, the district court made two errors in its rejection of the request for a concurrent sentence. First, its conclusion that “it
would have to be a finding by me that the crimes are [the] same” made a factor dispositive which is not dispositive even under the
guidelines. Second, it failed to recognize its broad statutory authority to depart or vary from whatever the guidelines do provide.
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* * *

*50  VI. CONCLUSION

Mr. Koziol's conviction must be vacated and a judgment of acquittal entered because § 1951 does not apply to his conduct.

If the Court believes § 1951 could apply, the conviction must be vacated because there was instructional and evidentiary
error. If the conviction is not vacated, the sentence must be vacated because there was sentencing error.

Respectfully submitted,

By

CARLTON F. GUNN

Attorney at Law

Appendix not available.

Footnotes

1 Pursuant to a protective order, the manager, and the client discussed later, were referred to in district court filings as
“Manager” and “Entertainer.” This brief generally refers to them in that way, even though their real names became
public during trial.

2 “RICO” is the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, codified in 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et seq., which can

support civil claims in addition to criminal prosecutions, see Sedima v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479 (1985). It includes

extortion under 18 U.S.C. § 1951 as a type of “racketeering activity.” See 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1).
3 The district court summarily dismissed these cases as “mainly involv [ing]” pending litigation or underlying business

disputes, ER 47, but this reads the cases far too narrowly. First, there is nothing in the cases' analysis suggesting the
rule should be different for bad faith claims in business disputes than for bad faith claims in other disputes, and at least
two of the cases - Pendergraft and Raney - were not really business disputes but conflicts between abortion providers

and opponents, see Raney, 370 F.3d at 1087; Pendergraft, 297 F.3d at 1200-01. Second, the cases speak of both

litigation and threatened litigation and draw no distinction between them. See Raney, 370 F.3d at 1088 (characterizing
Pendergraft as “involv[ing] only threatened litigation”); Dias, 1998 U.S. App LEXIS 536, at *2 (speaking of “a threat

to sue”); Vemco, 23 F.3d at 134 (speaking of “[a] threat of litigation”); First Pacific Bancorp, 847 F.2d at 547

(“threat of litigation not predicate act for RICO purposes”); I.S. Joseph, 751 F.2d at 267 (speaking of “threat to sue”).

See also Sosa v. DirecTV, Inc., 437 F.3d 923 (9th Cir. 2006), discussed infra p. 24, in which this Court recognized
the Noerr-Pennington doctrine applies to demand letters just as it does to actual litigation.

4 The government argued in the district court that Sosa also resolved - adversely to the defense - the question of whether
the Hobbs Act applies where a claim does rise to the level of a sham. This misreads Sosa, however. The statement quoted
in the text resolved only cases “where the asserted claims do not rise to the level of a sham.” (Emphasis added.) The
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court acknowledged in a footnote at the end of that very sentence - without expressing agreement or disagreement - that
“[o]ther circuits have reached similar results, many refusing to impose Hobbs Act liability even on baseless litigation,”

and cited I.S. Joseph, Vemco, and Pendergraft. Sosa, 437 F.3d at 940 n.10. Sosa did not decide the question of whether
to follow these circuits. It instead avoided the issue by, first, stating the narrower holding, based on the Noerr-Pennington
doctrine, that liability cannot attach to threats of litigation where the asserted claims do not rise to the level of sham, and,

second, noting there was not even an allegation of a sham in the case at bar, see id. at 942. Just as the question remains

in antitrust cases of whether the antitrust statute applies to the conduct at issue, see Professional Real Estate Investors,
Inc. v. Columbia Pictures Industries, Inc., 508 U.S. 49, 61 (1993) (noting that plaintiff “must still prove a substantive
antitrust violation”), there remains the question of whether the extortion statute applies to the threat to file a lawsuit.

5 Manager admitted he was upset after the massage and was confronted with the Doberman Pinscher, though he claimed
this was unnecessary and it was Mr. Koziol's wife who brought the dog out. See RT(5/31/18 a.m.) 58. This meant Mr.
Koziol's wife at least felt threatened, which, especially combined with Manager's ready willingness to settle, gave Mr.
Koziol reason to believe his wife's claims of sexual assault.

6 Mr. Koziol did speak of Manager in the prior phone conversation with Manager's attorney, but that is readily explained
by Manager's attorneys' position in the correspondence with Mr. Koziol's wife's attorney that they would not entertain
any discussions regarding Entertainer.

7 While the visiting district judge made Judge Hurwitz's opinion the majority opinion, it is not binding precedent because
the opinion was unpublished.

8 The Second Circuit's Jackson opinion did broadly “infer that Congress's concept of extortion was the same with respect

to both [§ 875 and § 1951],” but Jackson used § 1951 to narrow § 875, by incorporating § 1951's requirement

that a threat be “wrongful.” See Jackson, 180 F.3d at 70. Where the question is broadening a statute, the rule of
lenity is implicated.

9 The court did agree when defense counsel made this complaint about the limiting instruction the next day and indicated
it would give a different limiting instruction if the issue arose again. See ER 101-03. The court never corrected the
instruction it had already given, however.

10 These cases applied § 2B3.2, which covers more serious forms of extortion, but that guideline uses the same

“demanded” language as § 2B3.3. Compare U.S.S.G. § 2B3.2(b)(2) with U.S.S.G. § 2B3.3(b)(1).
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